



Darlington Borough Council and North East North Cumbria Integrated Care Board

Working Together to Support Young Carers

Joint Memorandum of Understanding

Between

Darlington Borough Council Services For People – Children and Adult Social Care

And

Integrated Care Board- North East and North Cumbria

1st October 2024

DARLINGTON JOINT MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING – YOUNG CARERS

Contents

- 1. Joint Statement of Intent
- 2. Key Aims and Outcomes
- 3. Young Carers: A Shared Understanding
- 4. Joint Strategy and Multi-Agency Steering Group
- 5. Promoting Early Identification
- 6. Assessment
- 7. Safeguarding
- 8. Schools and Young Carers
- 9. Health of Young Carers
- 10. Information, Advice & Advocacy
- 11. Equalities & Diversity
- 12. Language Barriers
- 13. Information Sharing
- 14. Young Carers: Related Themes and Issues
- 15. Audit and Assurance
- 16. Funding responsibilities
- 17. Working Jointly and Seamlessly
- 18. Commencement, Publication, Variation and Review

Abbreviations

ADASS	Association of Directors of Adult Social
	Services
ADCS	Association of Directors of Children's
	Services
DBC	Darlington Borough Council
ICB	Integrated Care Board

1. Joint Statement of Intent

The cross government Strategy for Carers launched in 2008 sets out a clear and challenging vision for young carers. It is that:

"children and young people will be protected from inappropriate caring and have the support they need to learn, develop and thrive; to enjoy positive childhoods and to achieve against all the Every Child Matters outcomes." ('Carers at the Heart of 21st Century Families and Communities')

The vision's overriding priority is prevention: ensuring young carers are actively protected from excessive or inappropriate caring and parenting roles are supported. This vision is central to the anticipated operation of this joint Memorandum of Understanding and the Darlington's Carers Strategy.

This memorandum builds on the continuing positive joint work that takes place now. It sets out our shared understanding of the issues. This is based on a shared set of aims about how we can deliver better integrated support for families with care needs that ensures better protection from harm and improved outcomes for young carers. It is our joint intention to ensure that all children are better supported not to undertake inappropriate caring by the provision of effective care and support for siblings and parents who need it. We will strive to achieve this within the resources available to us and the national and local policies and priorities that guide us.

2. Key Aims and Outcomes

Our main aim is to promote and improve the health and well-being of young carers and their families by preventing and protecting children and young people from undertaking excessive and inappropriate caring roles and responsibilities, and preventing the continuation of inappropriate caring. This will be grounded in effective use of supportive practice guidance such as the *Key Principles of Practice* and within the outcome frameworks provided by *Putting People First, Think Family* and *Every Child Matters*. Where a parent or another family member has care or welfare needs arising from physical or mental illness, substance misuse, or disability we will work together with our partners across the Children's Trust and carers organisations to ensure that:

- there are no 'wrong doors' and that young carers are identified, assessed and their families are supported in ways that prevent inappropriate caring and support parenting roles regardless of which service is contacted first
- risks to independence, safety and welfare are responded to in line with *Think Family* concepts and guidance on *Working Together to Safeguard Children*
- earlier, better integrated and effective responses to young carers and their families are available using *whole family pathway* approaches and during transition to adulthood
- children are protected from undertaking excessive or inappropriate caring roles; further inappropriate caring is prevented; emotional support is available where needed; and parents feel supported in their parenting role
- no care or support package for a parent or sibling relies on excessive or inappropriate caring being undertaken by a young carer to make it sustainable
- young carers are helped to achieve their potential; and, to have the same access to education, career choices and broader opportunities as their peers
- there is better recognition and greater participation of young carers and their families in shaping what we do and in the development and delivery of responses that promote greater choice and control and prevent further inappropriate caring.

3. Young Carers: A Shared Understanding

The definition of a young carer is taken from section 96 of the Children and Families Act 2014; "..a person under 18 who provides or intends to provide care for another person (of any age, expect where that care is provided for payment, pursuant to a contract or as voluntary work). For the purpose of this memorandum, this relates to care for any family member who is physically or mentally ill, frail elderly, disabled or misuses alcohol or substances. This memorandum also applies to young adult carers aged up to 25 and the transition from children's services to adult care and support.

We are agreed that the term 'young carer' should be taken to include children and young people under 18 who provide regular and ongoing care and emotional support to a family member who is physically or mentally ill, disabled or misuses substances.

The term does not apply to the everyday and occasional help around the home that may often be expected of or given by children in families. The key features for us are that the caring responsibilities persist over time and are important in maintaining the health, safety or day to day well-being of the person cared for and/ or the wider family.

We will continue to work together to develop a shared and more detailed understanding of the different types and levels of caring in our area. Our main focus, however, will be to ensure we develop better ways of identifying young carers, in particular where caring by children risks becoming excessive and/or inappropriate and putting in place the support that prevents this happening.

The central issues for us are those of recognition, adverse impact and support, including emotional support. Our approach relies on the premise, within a whole family approach, that:

"a young carer becomes vulnerable when the level of care-giving and responsibility to the person in need of care becomes excessive or inappropriate for that child, risking impacting on his or her emotional or physical well being or educational achievement and life chances" ('Key Principles of Practice', The Children's Society)

4. Joint Strategy and Multi-Agency Steering Group

We have a joint strategy to meet the needs of young carers, supported by a multi-agency steering group. We will work together to support the steering group to implement the strategy. We will ensure this strategy interfaces clearly with both current and future local Children and Young People's Plans and planning frameworks for Adult's, Wellbeing & Health, within the overall framework of our Local Strategic Partnership and Children's Trust.

Our strategy is a joint strategy between the local authority and health, developed through consultation with key partners, local support projects for carers and their families, and with young carers themselves. It will continue to embrace the views of young carers and their families and reflect the vision that is part of the national strategy. The joint strategy will be kept under review and progress shared with local people, young carers, families and partners.

5. Promoting Early Identification

It is our shared intention to review local practice and where appropriate to refine it to ensure that it:

- promotes positive images of adults living with long term conditions or disabilities that encourage families to seek information and assistance and identify those children with caring responsibilities
- provides appropriate and accessible information for families about services that support parenting capacity, independence and well being
- enables access to self directed support; including direct payments to meet the needs of parents where appropriate
- reaches out to families to offer support that avoids inappropriate forms of caring developing or continuing
- reflects principles of partnership working with communities, in particular, the need for sensitivity to cultural needs
- supports schools in their key role of identifying children with additional support needs and early intervention and support of young carers
- supports the National Healthy Schools Programme; the ability of North East North Cumbria ICB in identifying young carers; and ensures that young carers have the same access to health provision, education and career opportunities as their peers
- recognises the existence of "hard to reach" groups or families and creates opportunities to meet their needs
- recognises that care needs can vary significantly and that local processes offer emergency advice and support where usual care arrangements risk breaking down
- ° engages with local young carers' projects on early support and whole family working.

Support delivered effectively and early for the person requiring care and support that takes account of the needs of dependent children in the family should, in many cases, be sufficient to protect young carers. Almost inevitably, however, there will be some families whose support needs come to light late and when caring by the child is deeply entrenched.

In such cases, it may well be necessary to consider the unmet care or parental support needs of the person cared for and determine what tailored support young carers require immediately and in the longer term, to improve their situation and to reduce the pressures on them.

6. Assessment

We are agreed that the key to ensuring better support and outcomes for young carers is effective assessment. As Corporate Directors we will ensure that when a referral is made about a parent with a disability, dependency or illness, agencies consider whether there is a child in the family who is providing personal care or practical help. In doing so, practitioners will also be expected to consider, within a *whole family approach*, the impact of the disability or illness on each child within the family; including whether any of them are or could be providing some form of care or not. We expect action would be taken to assess:

- What additional services may be needed to ensure care needs are met and to prevent a child taking on or continuing to hold inappropriate caring responsibilities
- Whether the parent needs support in his or her parenting role or in developing parenting capacity
- What can be offered to help the whole family or to maximise the broader support which others in the family are able to provide
- Whether the impact on the child indicates that it would be appropriate to undertake an assessment under the *Framework for Assessment of Children in Need and their Families* or under the Carers and Disabled Children Act 2000
 - [°] whether there are additional needs falling within a Early Help Assessment.

- ^o We expect appropriate use of the *Think Family* toolkit and protocol and, where consistent with the aims of this Memorandum of Understanding, that we embed this and ensure that:
- ^o The primary responsibility for responding to the needs of young carers derives from the person in need of care and support. This means that whichever service identifies there is a young carer in the family, whether it is Darlington Borough Council children's or adults' social care services or North East North Cumbria ICB led, is responsible for assessing the needs of that young carer within that family context
- Practitioners will seek advice and support where necessary from colleagues, whether it is Darlington Borough Council's children's or adults' social services, North East North Cumbria ICB or a partner agency, to support discharge of our joint and separate responsibilities towards young carers and their families
- Practitioners will be aware of the prejudices and stereotypes that may exist around cultures, and disability, or about adults who misuse drugs/alcohol or have mental health needs and in terms of their parenting capacity and competence
- Practitioners will reach their conclusions on the basis of the evidence of their observation of both parents and children; including any young carers
- Practitioners will ensure that parents are made aware of and are given information on, the personalisation agenda. Some service users and carers going through transitions may be eligible for care and support services and, in such instances, can request a personal budget giving them more choice and control over their own service provision.

Joint assessment by adult, child and family and health staff will be expected where this is appropriate. We also expect that relevant staff from local agencies will be available to provide specialist advice and support as needed. Finally, we are clear that staff should never ignore any aspect of a situation that indicates there are concerns about children's safety and they require protection from harm.

7. Safeguarding

We accept joint responsibility to work in partnership with others to identify and respond to any young carers who are suffering, or likely to suffer, significant harm and to protect them from this harm. We will ensure discharge of our responsibilities in ways that focus on working together, early intervention and prevention; reflect practice guidance; do <u>not</u> stigmatize families or risk increasing the number of hidden young carers; and do <u>not</u> discourage young carers and their families from seeking information and advice, or an assessment and provision of services. We will:

- State clearly the responsibilities of staff under local safeguarding children procedures to make referrals where children are considered to be suffering or likely to suffer significant harm and emphasise the principle that safeguarding is everyone's business
- Ensure staff in all sectors have undertaken appropriate training in recognising harm, reporting concerns about a child's welfare and safety and confirming referrals they have made to children's social care within 48 hours
- Ensure staff across all sectors have undertaken appropriate training in relation to mental health and substance misuse issues
- Make sure our arrangements for young carers and their families reflect any requirements of local multi-agency and single agency policies for safeguarding children and seek inclusion as necessary
- ^o Ensure awareness of safeguarding adults' policy and practice; the ability to recognise and respond to safeguarding adults' concerns; and promote confidence and consistency in using local multi-agency procedures by staff in across all agencies.

7.1 Local Safeguarding Partnership

Local safeguarding Childrens and Adults Partnership will be made aware of issues surrounding young carers and of this memorandum of understanding, this is to ensure consistency with local multi-agency policies and procedures. This will also raise awareness of the way in which safeguarding work forms part of a continuum of person-centred and proportionate risk-based responses. We can all use these to ensure that those adults and children at risk of harm are kept safe and their welfare is promoted.

8. Schools and Young Carers

Your Child, Your Schools, Our Future emphasised the importance of early intervention as one of the founding pillars of all schools. The intention is that all children and young people who have additional support needs can be identified early on. Consistent with this and our joint approach, schools will be encouraged and supported to:

- Have a named staff member with lead responsibility for young carers and to recognise this role within continuing professional development
- Have in place a policy to encourage practice that identifies and supports young carers, such as adapting school arrangements if needed, provision for personal tutors and private discussions and access to Darlington young carers' project(s)
- Promote open communication with families that supports parenting capacity and encourages the sharing of information
- Raise awareness about young carers and promote understanding of the caring issues that will touch all families at some point; linking with other agencies as appropriate
- Ensure school policies such as those for enrolment, attendance, bullying, behaviour and keeping safe afford recognition to young carers
- Ensure Caldicott principles on confidentiality and information sharing are understood and followed
- Ensure the provision of personalised and effective school-based support that incorporates the principles of awareness, inclusion, understanding and support for young carers to achieve their full potential
- Incorporate into individual pupil plans, recognition and support for the positive aspects of the young carer's role, as well as providing the supports necessary to enable young carers to attend and enjoy school
- Include positive messages and images about people with disabilities; including, mental ill health within the wider school curriculum
- Consider and, where reasonably practicable, take action to remove barriers to physical access and communication and promote inclusion
- [°] Be sensitive to cultural and religious needs
- Take advantage of guidance and support in relation to young carers which is available as part of the *21st Century Schools* and *National Healthy Schools Programme*
- Consider scope for school staff to adopt lead professional roles within the Early Help Assessment.
- All Darlington Schools will be offered the opportunity to sign up to the local Young Carers Charter

9. Health of Young Carers

The joint strategy for young carers has been developed with North East North Cumbria ICB. Consistent with our joint responsibilities under the *National Service Framework for Children, Young People and Maternity Services* to develop co-ordinated approaches for all children and

young people, we will continue to explore the scope for more integrated working in relation to young carers that will:

- ° Ensure that Health Services are open and accessible to young people in a caring role
- Ensure that young carers, have the same access as their peers, to high quality health care services that are appropriate, effective, respects confidentiality (where appropriate) and is based on the need of the individual
- ^o Promote and sustain healthy cooking, eating and fluid intakes
- ° Encourage regular exercise and doing about 60 minutes of physical activity each day
- ° Ensure good oral health
- Raise awareness and reduce risks of substance misuse (alcohol, volatile substances and illicit drugs) and smoking and support young carers interested in giving up
- [°] Raise awareness of personal stress and how this may be managed
- Highlight the role of doctors and other health professional in identifying or supporting young carers in primary healthcare settings and as part of hospital discharge processes
- ° Provide breaks and activities to enhance mental health and social networks
- Ensure children and young people's mental health services provide interventions and support to improve mental health and wellbeing of young carers who are seriously impacted by their caring role.
- Enable young people to assess risks about lifting and handling and provide information, advice and support to remove or reduce risk of injury as necessary
- ° Ensure safe procedures exist for the holding and control of medication at all times.
- Develop pro-active approaches to identifying potential young carers at the point of a parent's diagnosis
- [°] Ensure information is made available to children and young people, in age-appropriate language, of parent's conditions and the care required with the parent's consent. If consent is withheld, parents will be encouraged and supported to share information with their family.

10. Information, Advice & Advocacy

Together with our partners, we will work towards a position where, if not already in place, information and advocacy services are available to all young carers and their families offering:

- Information
- ° Advice
- Advocacy
- [°] Representation
- [°] Support; including peer support through Darlington young carers' project

We will encourage local use of the following core principles, which were developed originally by the Department of Health, for use when people act as advocates for young carers:

- Advocates should be the young carer's person of choice and can be informal, peer as well as professional advocates
- ° Advocates should work for the best interests of the young carer
- Advocates should value and respect young carers as individuals and challenge all types of unlawful discrimination
- Advocates should work to make sure that young carers understand what is happening to them, can make their views known and, where possible, exercise appropriate choices when decisions are being made
- Advocates should help young carers to raise issues and concerns about things they are unhappy about. This includes making complaints under the Children Act 1989

 Advocates should be familiar with requirements regarding the safeguarding of children and know what to do if they become aware of abuse or neglect or risk of it occurring.

As Corporate Directors we accept there are challenges inherent in this commitment. We recognise that on occasions tensions may arise between young carers and those whom they support. We will work to find ways of resolving them. We will commit to young carers being directly engaged not less than once a year to find out what has gone well, what has not and what might make a difference in future.

Opportunities for Darlington Elected Member involvement will be identified. There is a designated portfolio holder for Children and Young People who has young carers as a focal group within their remit.

11. Equalities & Diversity

This Memorandum of Understanding applies in all situations irrespective of age, disability, gender, race, cultural or religious beliefs and sexual orientation. It is an underpinning principle within the protocol that, as with abuse or neglect, inappropriate caring responsibilities, cannot be condoned on religious or cultural grounds. We will ensure that appropriate people are readily available to provide advice on such matters.

12. Language Barriers

When considering translation services, we will consult with families as to who could fill this role appropriately. Where possible bi-lingual advocates will be used, and account taken of any relevant factors around gender or locality. We are agreed it is not good practice to expect young carers to interpret for their families, particularly when it involves someone with an illness and will discourage this. We expect interpreters to be used.

13. Information Sharing

We are agreed that effective and timely information sharing between our own agencies and with our partners is critical to the provision of early intervention and preventative work; to support transitions; and, for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of young carers.

14. Young Carers: Related Themes and Issues

There are a number of other issues that may apply to the circumstances of some young carers. We will ensure these inform the need for joint working and shared understandings/ processes between adult social care, children's services and North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care Board. They are:

- [°] Transitions to adulthood (see below)
- [°] Parents with mental health needs
- ^o Parents who misuse substances (alcohol, prescribed or illicit drugs)
- ^o Parents with a learning disability
- ° Refugee Young Carers

We accept that this listing is not definitive. We will continue to work together on these and other identified issues. Our local arrangements will ensure these and other relevant issues are kept under review and that up to date information is available to all staff. This may include the preparation and dissemination of further information to support joint and separate effective action and good practice in these areas. We will ensure that any additions are consistent with the

considerable body of national guidance and best practice materials that are available and which staff are expected to follow.

14.1 Transitions to adulthood

We will work together on transitions issues and individual cases, ensuring that, as far as possible, young carers experience a smooth transition to adulthood and receive appropriate information, advice and support to enable them to make choices about their future. We will continue to monitor good practice in this area and work together to research and implement ways of improving the transitions process for young carers, including services available to them.

14.2 Service Development & Re-design

Darlington Borough Council and North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care Board are committed to developing integrated children and young people's services. Integrated service developments should recognise the role and needs of young carers and their potential vulnerability. Any service redesign must ensure that services continue to support the principles outlined in this Memorandum of Understanding and in the Young Carers Strategy.

15. Audit and Assurance

We expect the adoption and operation of the memorandum to be consistent with the *Good Governance Standard for Public Services*. To this end, we will put in place arrangements for periodic audit and the provision of reasonable assurance to the Council, partners, young carers, their families and the community on how it works in specific areas or as a whole.

The multi-agency Carers steering group will be responsible for the implementation of the young carer strategy, the management of risk and provision of reasonable assurance of delivery. Performance management information from Darlington young carers project providers and progress of services in implementing the key actions from the strategy will be reported into this group. Where issues cannot be resolved at the steering group, they can be escalated to the Think Family operational and strategic management groups and ultimately to the Children's Executive Board for the Children's Trust as required.

The information arising from these performance audits will be used to inform priorities for development and delivery of the key processes and outcomes that the memorandum has been designed to help secure.

16. Funding responsibilities

The internal allocations of funding by Darlington Borough Council or from North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care Board should not become a barrier to timely and appropriate support. We recognise that disputes about where funding responsibility lies can be deeply damaging to families: they were one of the concerns voiced by families and young carers in the Carers Review national consultations. We will act to ensure that staff have a clear understanding of joint and separate responsibilities to support parenting roles, respond to needs and reduce the need for inappropriate caring by young carers. The following general principles apply to the expected whole family and joint approach to meeting needs:

 DBC Adult's Strategic Commissioners are responsible for commissioning care and support services for adults to reduce or prevent inappropriate caring responsibilities by young carers

- DBC Children's Commissioners are responsible for commissioning services to respond to specific needs of the child or young person; including, those relating to the impact of their caring role on them
- ^o North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care Board is responsible for commissioning services to support good health outcomes for young carers. Young carers should be viewed, first and foremost, as young people and should therefore be able to access the full range of health services provided, in a timely and appropriate manner.
- Shared responsibility exists between us for commissioning services that would support or sustain adults in their parenting role having regard to the individual circumstances.

17. Working jointly and seamlessly

Young carers have identified transitions as a source of concern.

We will support seamless transitions by:

- Ensuring that staff are appropriately trained and supported in understanding and exercising joint and separate responsibilities towards young carers and those whom they support.
- Being as clear as we can about our joint roles and separate responsibilities.
- Ensuring young carers and parents have access to information and advocacy services to support them in the exercise of their rights.
- Ensuring that effective arrangements for consultation, communication and feedback to young carers and those they support are available and acted upon.

The following principles will underpin our commitment to work jointly and seamlessly:

- Discussions around funding responsibilities will <u>not</u> get in the way of responding in a timely manner to situations where it is evident that inappropriate caring responsibilities are being undertaken.
- Discussions around funding will <u>not</u> be allowed to become a challenge for the young carer or the person supported to try to resolve.
- Effective escalation arrangements will be in place with Directors should any challenges around lead agency occur.

18. Commencement, Publication, Variation and Review

The commencement date for this memorandum of understanding is1st October 2024. The review date is 31st March 2027 and thereafter every three years or as agreed between us. Variations may be agreed to reflect changing legislative, policy and local requirements and evidence of what works best for young carers.

This document will be placed on the Council's web site and with partners as part of our commitment to work together on these issues.

Lorraine Hughes – Director of Public Health, Darlington Borough Council

Lelyous

James Stroyan - Director Services for People, Darlington Borough Council

V. Shig

NVM

Chris Bell Assistant Director – Children Services

Councillor Nicholas Wallis Portfolio Holder – Children and Young People

arby

Joss Harbron Assistant Director - Adult Social Care

Jocelyn Identoron

Anlling

Councillor Anne-Marie Curry Portfolio Holder – Adult Social Care

Martin Short Director of Place – Integrated Care Board.

9